
c"qa

CAN YOU ANSWER THESE QUESTIONS?

1. Who was Messer Leon and what was his relationship
with the Maharik?

2. Who was Johannes Reuchlin and how did he assist the
Jews?

3. What role did Rabbi Joselmann play in the Peasant
Rebellion?

4. Who was Antonius Margaritha and what did he write?

5. What was the difference between the Catholic and the
Protestant attitude towards the Jews?

This and much more will be addressed in the fifteenth
lecture of this series: "The Protector of Israel: The Life and
Times of Rabbi Joselmann of Rosheim".

To derive maximum benefit from this lecture, keep these
questions in mind as you listen to the tape and read through
the outline. Go back to these questions once again at the
end of the lecture and see how well you answer them.

PLEASE NOTE: This outline and source book was
designed as a powerful tool to help you appreciate and
understand the basis of Jewish History. Although the
lectures can be listened to without the use of the outline, we
advise you to read the outline to enhance your
comprehension. Use it as well as a handy reference guide
and for quick review.
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THE PROTECTOR OF ISRAEL
THE LIFE AND TIMES OF RABBI JOSELMANN OF ROSHEIM

I. Rabbainu Yosef Kolon, the Maharik

A. Magister Ioseph Colombus Hebreus filius quondam Magister Salomonis de
Trevoto. Notary record of the Maharik in Mantua in 1475 V. Colorni, Annuario di
studi ebraici I 1934

B.
(1azkd sebn ze`a ze` wzred  .d"dlf dnly x"xdn oa oelew sqei xirvd '`p  . . .

.d"dlf heaxh dnly x"xden oa e"vi oelew sqei x"xden dlebd xe`n lecbd axd azky
h oniq miycgd w"ixdn z"ey

. . . These are the words of the one of diminished stature (literally young or immature)
Yosef Kolon b. R. Shlomo, of blessed memory.  ­ This responsa was copied with great
exactness from the original which was handwritten by the great Rav, the light of the
exile, R. Yosef Kolon, may Hashem bless and protect him, the son of R. Shlomo Tarbot, of
blessed memory. Teshuvas Maharik HaChadashim 9

(2z`n z`yn `yie dpexz eznkg ,eizewpei ekli dpt lk lv` zeaegxa uega ix`
`ai ot d`xid iptn c`n lglgze ,d`ixwd z` `p e`xw dil` xn`ie dpeid z` glyie ,eipt
dtya dixn` aiyz `id s` ,dxefd lbx ik gkyz ceakd iptne ,dxia` lk dlqe qxce ix`
l`igi x"a dcedi 'xl hn oniq miycgd w"ixdn z"ey   :zxg` oeylae dty ibrla dtx

oe`il xiqin dpeknd

A lion (R. Yehudah b. R. Yechiel ­ Messer Leon) is outside in the streets. By every
corner are his sucklings (disciples). His wisdom sings out and he distributes it
generously. He sent for the dove (Kolon) and told it, "Read this pronouncement." She
(the dove) became very shaken for she feared that the lion may come and pounce and tear
at her every limb. . . . Teshuvas Maharik HaChadashim 49

(3miycgd w"ixdn z"ey  .iztxv d"dlf dnly x"xdena oelew sqei xirvd m`p  . . .
n oniq

These are the words of the one of diminished stature (literally young or immature) Yosef
Kolon b. R. Shlomo, of blessed memory, the Frenchman. Teshuvas Maharik
HaChadashim 40
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(4f"pw yxey w"ixdn . . . df dyrn rxi` ixap`wa izexrp iniay ipxkef

I remember in the days of my youth in Chambery. Teshuvas Maharik Shoresh 157

(5mewna xc l"f dnly x"xdn xecd zten ixn `a` didy wepiz iziidyk ip` xekfe
.iel awri x"xden `aeh xeaqe qixb dede dxeza lecb cg` ax xc did my mbe cg`

mieaqwea sqei 'xn miycgd w"ixdn z"eyl `ean oiir e"hw yxey w"ixdn

I remember when I was a small child that my father, my master, the wonder of the
generation, R. Shlomo, of blessed memory, lived in one place, and there was a Rav
who also lived there who was a giant of Torah who possessed great breadth of learning as
well as great understanding. His name was R. Yaakov Levi . Teshuvas Maharik
Shoresh 115

(6h"q yxey w"ixdn  .l"vf xecd zten ia` ixen

My father, my master, the wonder of the generation, of blessed memory.  Teshuvas
Maharik Shoresh 69

(7a"r yxey w"ixdn   .d"dlf dnly x"xdn oa oelew sqei iwcxc ixwn `p`

I, the teacher of children, Yosef Kolon b. R. Shlomo, of blessed memory. Teshuvas
Maharik Shoresh 72

C.
(1lr dxen il`xyid yealn oi` m` . . . l`xyi ze`av ixy ze`n ixye mitl` ixy

yeall il`xyil xeqi` mey oi` ea mibdep miebdy eze`n xzei zeripvd lr e` zecdid
xiqin dpeknd l`igi x"a dcedi 'xdl 'za a"vw yxey w"ixdn  .miebd oia bedpd yeal

oe`il

To the princes of thousands, princes of hundreds, the princes of the hosts of Israel . . . If
the customary Jewish garb does not indicate anything particularly Jewish or is not more
modest than that of the non­Jews, then there is no prohibition for a Jew to wear clothing
which is commonly worn by non­Jews. Teshuvas Maharik Shoresh 192 ­ Addressed
to R. Yehudah b. R. Yechiel ­ Messer Leon

(2`zbelt xa dide mitev ztep xtq xag ,daehpna did oe`il xeqin `xwpd dcedi 'x
dlawd zlyly 'q   .xird on mdipy yxb daehpn qkecy cr ldwd ewlgpe w"ixdnc

R. Yehudah, who was called Messer Leon, lived in [the city of] Mantua, [Italy]. He
composed the work, Nofes Tzufim  and was an adversary of the Maharik. The community
became so involved in the controversy that the Duke of Mantua expelled both of them
from the city. Sefer Shalsheles HaKabbalah
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(3zecple mixgdl hxta zwelgn rlq oia iy`x qipkdln izwgxzp ini lk izeid mein
b"v yxey w"ixdn   .inr xry lk rcei xy`k izvtg dl`a `l ik

Throughout my entire life have I distanced myself from being in the midst of the
harshness (literally putting my head between the rocks) of a controversy, especially when
it meant to excommunicate one of the parties. As anyone who knows me can verify, this
is not a course of action that I would desire to take. Maharik Shoresh 93

D.
`a ikp` dn ik ilr daexn dk`lnde xvw meid ik m`e ,ilr jzaig aexl c"rlpd jl aiy`

b"l yxey w"ixdn   .mipya `le dnkga `l d`xedl izrbd `l ,meld cr

I will reply to you, according to the limitations of the impoverishment of my mind, only
because of your endearment to me, even though my time is limited and my work is very
taxing, for who am I to be worthy of such a position. I have not reached the [proper]
level, neither in wisdom nor years, to be able to issue legal judgements. Maharik
Shoresh 33

E.
wtiq f` did `le zeldwn daxd miwqr el eidyky eax l"f oelew i"xdn lr eia` cirdy
,dlila oke xzei `le zexey izy e` dxey `xewe meia cg` xtq gzet did cenll ecia
ield mdxa` 'xl dkxa wnr 'q   .minyl eal oiekiy calae hirnnd cg`e daxnd cg`c
`eana `aen yiaixh mdxa` 'xl mdxa` zkxa 'q mya a"n wxt d"lyd ly eia` uiaxed

miycgd w"ixdnd 'zl

His father testified that when his Master, Mahari Kolon, of blessed memory, would be
heavily involved in communal activities, and did not have the opportunity to learn, he
would open up a sefer in the daytime and read one or two lines and no more. He did the
same in the evening. [He based himself upon the statement of the Talmud (Menachos
110a), "Whether one does much or only a little, it is all the same [in G­d's eyes] as long
as one's intention is for the sake of Heaven." Amek Berachah in the name of R.
Avraham Trevesh

F.
(1icic `wqt jd lr jenqlc 'ira `l iypi` dia 'nize miax da eycc oeik z`f mb s`e

el enikqd lirl aezkd df wqt lre daiyi iytz iaxax ixab ixz eilr enikqi `l m`
qw oniq w"ixdn z"ey   :l"f upin `cei x"xdne .l"f e"xhyiin awri x"xdn

"Since what I am writing goes against popular practice, I only want my ruling to be relied
upon if two great men, heads of Yeshivas will agree to it." The above ruling was
confirmed by R. Yaakov Maiestro and R. Yehudah Mintz. Teshuvas Maharik 160

(2,'zicanetc 'agxk 'zzrny wiice ,'zkld ipze xiaqe xinbc ,xiayn y`xl dkxa
e oniq miycgd w"ixdn z"ey   .e"vi upin (lbq) l"q `cei x"xdn 'egn bltend sel`d d"d



Series VII 4     Lecture #15

Blessings to the head of he who provides [for the community], he who has studied much
and understands the material, he who has learned the halachos and carefully formulates
them like the famous Rachba of Pumbedeisa, the astounding Aluf, R. Yehudah Segal
Mintz . . . Teshuvas Maharik HaChadashim 6

(3lk mre diaeaiqe dlblb mr enr `vnp dxezd fkxn ,dnkgd oirn ,dx`tz xfp
(edenk oi`) j"` (lecbd ly`d) d"d ,[dkxal wicv xkf] ,dkk ely mrd ixy` ,dizeceqi
.e"vi (el xy` lke) l'`ke z"yr (edigie exev edxnyi) e"vi oelew sqei x"xdn oe`bd

d oniq miycgd w"ixdn z"eya upin i"xdn z`n w"ixdnl dl`y

The crown of splendor, the fountain of wisdom, the personification of the center of Torah
together with all of its surrounding [wisdom] and foundations. Fortunate is the people
that have such a person in their midst, the great provider, who is incomparable, the Gaon,
R. Yosef Kolon, may his Rock guard him and bless him with life, together with all of his
[extended] family. Introduction to the question that was posed to the Maharik by R.
Yehudah Mintz,  Teshuvas Maharik HaChadashim 5

II. Persecution and Martyrdom

A.
ly 'icec 'ig` dyly lr mzyx litdl oibicpr ixxev e`a iyiyd sl`l `"lx zpya idie
e`ae eytp lr i"dfra hlnp wgeca l"f ia`e zg` mrta eicgi eytz ,l"f ia` ixen
'`vnpy xfnn 'xwy lr zecedl 'igxken cr 'ixeqi ipin lka mytp z` zeprl miaie`d
l"f ing 'ig`e wxt eze`a extyp 'ivxet iyecw mb .'zi eny yecw lr etxype `nh mxawa
'q  .on` ocr oba 'iigd xexva 'xexv didz 'znype wxt eze`a `epb`d xira ote`a oecp

miidqexn sqei 'x ly zepexkfd

In the year 5231 (1470­1) the enemies of Endingen came to cast their net upon the three
brothers (Elias, Eberlin, and Merklin), the uncles of my father, of blessed memory. My
father, of blessed memory, with difficulty, escaped with his life. The enemies submitted
them to all kinds of torture until they were forced to make a [false] confession to the
lying accusations of a scoundrel after [bodies] were found in a Christian cemetery. They
were burned to death for the Sanctification of His name. The martyrs of Pforzheim were
also burned to death at that time. The brother of my father­in­law was also condemned to
be tortured on the wheel in the city of Hagenau at that time. May his soul be bound in the
bond of eternal life. Memoirs of R. Yosef of Rosheim

B.
'diad`n lk  mb  r"p  in`  'xne  `edy l"f  ia`  ixenn izrny xy` z`  oexkfl  aezkl  ie`x
jez mytp lr egxae mlewl eqp 'picn iayei sexiva miidprpixiaii` xird on e`vi 'dithe
'twze zah gxia . . .  `nve arxa dninz dpy dny eide oiihylivile xiea mixvan ipy
'iceid elkei `l zexixw lcebe aexne miax 'inin 'ziid `ly dn dtewz eze`a 'exixwd
miaie`d e`a odiaiaqe 'iwxec izaa 'gexal e`ae ze`eagne 'exrna cer xizqdle ripvdl
enilyd mleke zexrpe 'xrp 'iype 'iyp` zeytp mipeny dny dide 'ibxedd cil 'ze` xeqnl
ezxfr i"yd gly iwp mc mnc jetyl `ly 'ingx ywal 'dipt lr eltpe dhigyl mytp
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cr miaedf ze`n dpny e`iaz m` xen`l zeqiib y`x lyend 'dilr 'gixy mdiptl ek`lne
`vnp `le 'edf dxyr ytp lkl epiid 'kizeytp lr 'xtk md 'pd meid zevg mcew ezxgnl
x`ye oifedlin xira xc didy l"vf 'qin`a `cei eny 'aeh yi` zlef 'picna cer icei yi`
drenyd d`ae elly 'penn lke erahpe ebxdp ozvwe egxap ozvw exftzpe eca`p mlek 'icei
lk mb `ed mb ey`x lr xtre wy yeall ux`d lr ayi eicba rxw oifedlina aeh yi` dfl
ze`n 'g jqa l"f ikcxn ezxyn glye dlile mei eze`a ez` `vnp xy` lk gwl ezia ipa
mlek 'kiled mdl rawe rvwedk meid zevg mcew `al zxynd lkei `le mytp xtek
egwl l"f hrpa eny cg` yi`e 'exrpe 'ixrp 'iyp 'iqpxt 'ipax cg` laga dfa df mixyewn
lr eltp mlek oke l"vf wecv x"xd sel`d enr oke ey`x fizdl eyeale ecba erxwe oey`x
dtely eaxg xpihqewd `ived rbx eze`a dhigyl 'dix`ev ehyte 'pel zecezdl 'dikxa
`ld icei meya jci glyz l` lecb lewa zexwl zxynd `a ef xg` ef my`x fizdl ocpn
'xd zial 'elyl mze` eglye ze`n 'g 'iy`xd egwl 'eke 'iqetzd cra jlide icia zernd
xzei axgd cgtn wzzyp ey`x lr iehp 'tely axg d`xy hrpa eze`e l"vf qin`a `cei
exare efebp cr eziaa mdnr mlivde dcty yi`d gnye eze`eixal xfg k"g`e dpy ivgn
l"f l`igi xa wgvi izeg` oae ceake xyerl ekf elek aeh yi` eze` ly erxfe miipendd
'eytp livdl epenne eytp 'xrdy in dfn oaene  .`ed epip oae rxf eze`n cer qin`a
oi`e `ad mlera eixg` erxfle el miiw oxwde dfd 'lera 'exitd lk`l dkfiy zenl igewle
eze` jezn mihlnpd . . . mr cqg i"yd `iltdy dn dxyrn zg` 'ezkl witqn mewn o`k
'iad`n 'gtyn lke in`e ia` livdy 'c jxai my iyp`e zegtyn dnk livdl dyw dxfbd
xivieeyd cbp eznwp 'c gly 'iyecwd lre 'iphwe 'ixrp 'iype 'iyp` xzi mr eply 'iaexwe

 zepexkfd 'q  .`"xik eicar mc znwp mewpl 'c zenwp l-`e .'inrt dnk

It is quite appropriate to record what I had heard from my father, of blessed memory, how
my father and mother, may they rest in Eden, together with their friends and their
children left the city of Oberehnheim together with other members of the countryside and
ran for their lives [from the Swiss mercenaries during the Burgundian war of 1476­77].
They remained in hiding in two fortresses, Hohbarr and Luetzelstein, where they spent a
whole year in hunger and thirst . . . It was the month of Teves (December­January) and it
was colder than it had been for a very long time, so that the Jews could no longer seek
shelter in caves and hiding places and therefore sought lodging in and around
Tuerckheim. It was then that the [townspeople of Tuerckheim], enemies [of the Jews],
handed them over to the murderous [Swiss]. There were some eighty souls, men, women,
youths and maidens, all prepared to die. They cast themselves upon the ground to beg for
mercy that innocent blood be not spilled. At that time, G­d sent His help and His angel,
who disposed the captain of the soldiers to have mercy. He said to them, "If you bring
eight hundred gold [florins] by noon tomorrow, I shall accept it as your ransom, ten gold
[florins] for each of you." However, there was no Jew left in the territory, save one pious
man, Yehudah Pamseh of Muehlhausen. All the other Jews had been either destroyed or
dispersed, slain or drowned and robbed of all of their possessions. Now, when this pious
man heard the evil tidings, he rent his garments, sat down on the ground and put on
sackcloth and ashes, and all the people of his household did likewise. During that day and
night, he took (converted) everything that he possessed and dispatched his servant
Mordechai, of blessed memory, with the full amount of ransom money, eight hundred
[gold florins]. The servant was delayed, so that he did not arrive there before noon. Thus,
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they were all led away bound to a rope, rabbis, elders, women, youths, and maidens.
First, the mercenaries seized one man whose name was Paneth, of blessed memory,
tearing the clothes from his body so that they might cut off his head. They dealt likewise
with the distinguished Rabbi Tzaddok and similarly with all the others. The people fell
on their knees to confess their sins, and they bared their necks to the sword. The
executioner now drew his sword to cut off their heads in succession, one after the other.
At that moment, the servant arrived and cried out, "Leave all these Jews alone. I have
brought the money for the prisoners. Here it is!" The ringleaders took the eight hundred
[florins] and permitted the Jews to enter safely into the house of  R. Yehudah Pamseh, of
blessed memory. Paneth, the man who saw the sword as it was about to sever his head,
became mute from fright. Over a half a year passed before he regained his health. The
man who had redeemed them and protected them in his house until the danger had passed
was delighted [to have had such an opportunity]. The progeny of that pious man have,
without exception, merited wealth and honor. The son of my sister, Yitzchak b. Yechiel,
of blessed memory, Pamseh is a descendant of his. It is self evident that someone who
risks his life and capital to save souls and those about to be killed will merit to enjoy the
fruits of his labor in this world while the principal remains intact for him and his seed in
the next world. I don't have the space to write even a tenth of the kindness that G­d
miraculously wrought for those who were saved from that terrible decree, for he saved
many families and people of distinction who are worthy of G­d's blessing, including my
father and mother and all of  the families of their friends and relatives together with the
other men, women, youths and maidens. Because of the martyrs did G­d repeatedly send
his revenge against the Swiss. G­d is the G­d of vengeance to revenge the blood of His
servants. May it [always] be His will. Amen.  Memoirs

C.
mekecd cbp d"xi qep`linw`n xqwd 'ec` mya miax minr englp d"qxe c"qxe b"qx zpya
ipnn ellye effa wxt eze`ae zenewne mixvan dnkn zeltya edecixed cr bxraliciid
zvwe 'ivtg dfi` zlef il x`yp `le ze`n 'cn xzei izia ilke zepekyna iz` `vnpd lk
dide mcin livdl miryx ipy oian iz`ved 'inly 'iaedf n"w mb .dpn` lr dtiwfa zeaegn
icin ze`ltpe 'iqp zeyrl cer siqei oke l"pd dpya hay cr izia ipa ea qpxtl orynl il

 zepexkfd xtq  .`"xik meie mei

In the years 1503, 1504, and 1505, many peoples fought against the Duke of Heidelberg
in the name of our Emperor Maximilian and they drove him out in disgrace from many
fortresses and places. At that time, they looted and stole everything that they could find
in my possession, including all of the pledges [for loans that I had made] as well as my
household goods, more than four hundred [florins]. I was only left with a few pieces in
my possession and some outstanding loans that were made on trust [without a pledge]. I
was also able to extricate from the teeth of the evil one hundred and forty gold [florins] of
superior value. This enabled me to support my family until Shevat of that year. So may
Hashem continue to work miracles and wonders day by day. May it [always] be His will.
Amen.  Memoirs
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III.  Joselmann ­ The Appointee of the Jewish Community

A.
lr zihxt dgbyda oir gwtl iyp` xzie wecv x"xd sel`d sexiva izpnzp x"r zpya

zepexkfd 'q  .'bidpdl xeaivd

In the year 1510, I was appointed, together with Rabbi Tzaddok, the prince, and other
men to keep watch over the community with particular care and to lead it.   Memoirs

B.
mihqxitxew miklne mixqiw (ipta) i"r zeax mipy df izipnzp micedia okqnd ip` oky
oiicrae aiig iziid jk meyne micedid llk ici lr jkl izxgape dpenne bidpnl mikiqpe
mihqxitxewde mixqiwd ly oicd izae zexvgd lka oke jiixd zetq` lka lertl aiig ip`
 .e`p`d zepfexl hvx zpyn azkn  .izraypy dreayd sweza z`fe ,mxear xacd yxcpyk

Many years have passed since I, the impoverished one, was appointed to be their
advocate before emperors and kings, electors and princes, and to lead them. I was chosen
for this position by the entire Jewish community. Because of this, I was and still am
responsible to act [on their behalf] in all of the Imperial Diets and in all of the palaces
and courts of the emperor and electors when the need arises. This was secured by the
power of the oath that I made. Letter to the government of Hanau in the year 1539

C.
oiilxrt xira myd eycw mixyk zeytp g"l etxyp wx`n 'picna 'xvd 'twz dpy eze`ae
i"ry qp jeza qp epl i"yd d`xde azkay 'xez lhal epinr ivixte 'iaie` enw mb d"avpz
'aexa mce`ne mytp z` exqn hx`ew`pxe w"we .'pyeil dxez xifgdl ecbpk mw 'ene` inkg

 zepexkfd 'q   .oind zaygnn epilivdl epiipera 'c d`x cr df l` dfn 'ze`ved

In that same year (1510) a calamity struck in the March [of Brandenburg] when thirty
eight innocent souls were burned in Sanctification of His Name in the city of Berlin. In
addition, enemies and criminals from among our own people arose to destroy the written
copies of the [Oral] Torah. G­d showed to us a miracle within a miracle, for non Jewish
scholars arose to counter him and to restore the Torah to its former glory. The holy
community of Frankfurt sacrificed their lives and fortunes until G­d saw our desperate
plight and saved us from the plot of the apostate. Memoirs

D.
micigi xeqnl cnr ezligzy avw dtixh dpeknd aie`e xv yi`l dxwed xy` z` d`x
drx zeaxzl `vi cr ,mwifdl oiyldl ,mininz 'iyp` mr daixn icil `a k"g`e miaxe
d`xd midl-`de ,ycew ixtq lke dt lray dxez ca`le cinydl ywae l`xyi lk xrvl
`ly xeititd ipta egvpl zene` inkgn oilkiix xrhweh aeh yi` gelyl qp jeza qp epl
cea`ae dipelwa xbtpe ezyea awr lr aiyi xxevde .eply ycew ixtqe cenlzd fepbl oekp

miidqexn sqei 'xn dpwnd 'q   .micedil dgnye dpix miryx
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See what happened to that enemy [of the Jews] who was nicknamed, "Trefe Katzav" (the
butcher of forbidden meats). He (Pfefferkorn) originally arose to become an informant
against individuals and the community. Afterwards, he fought with pious Jews in order to
inform upon them and to cause them harm. This led him to become an apostate. He then
desired to cause grief to all of Israel and to destroy the Oral Torah and all of the holy
books. God showed us a miracle within a miracle and sent that goodly non Jewish
scholar, Dr. Reuchlin to defeat him in the presence of the Pope. He proved that it is
improper to hide [and confiscate] the Talmud and our holy writings. The enemy received
his rightful shame and he died in the city of Cologne. The destruction of the evil is a
cause of rejoicing for the Jews Sefer HaMikneh, R.  Yosef of Rosheim

IV. Joselmann ­ Intercessor for the Jews

A.
`lcp` ixy lre 'iidpr xird eze` lr 'plaewa l"f xqwd 'ec`l izglzyp d"xr zpya
xtq  .ylye 'inrt aekxl izkxved ef 'aiqae dpicnd on epiyxbl 'zvr llka oenbdde

zepexkfd

In the year 1515, I was sent to our sovereign lord, the Emperor [Maximilian], of blessed
memory, to lodge a complaint against the city of Oberehenheim, the Lords of Andlau and
the Bishop [of Strasbourg] for planning to expel us from their territory. Because of this, I
was forced to travel there a second and third time. Memoirs

B.
mglyl epipir cngne x`t lkn eyzpe eyxbp wexty oibrx ldwe l"f xqwd reb h"xr zpya
. . . micedid lk yexbl 'iylewp`h 'iixtk evrie e`ypzi wxt eze`ae . . . '`eh xdp lr
erny meid eze`ae 'iylewp`h xtkn iceid lk e`ived h"xr zpy xc` gxi cg` meiae
xvlnd 'ec` 'ala ozp 'iwl`de mdenk zeyrl el`n e"w cenll drenyd mirx mipkyd

zepexkfd 'q  .eiptl izltpzd xy` izwrf l` renyl wxetqxhy oenbde `epb`d

In the year 1519, the Emperor [Maximilian], of blessed memory, passed away.
Thereupon, the [Jewish] community of Regensburg was expelled. They were stripped of
all of their glory and the desire of our eyes (their holy books) and were sent away [by
boat] over the Danube. . . . At that time, the townspeople of [the Imperial village of]
Dangolsheim decided to drive out all their Jews . . . On Sunday, during the month of
Adar, in the year 1519, they drove out all of the Jews from the village of Dangolsheim.
When their evil neighbors heard of this, they felt even more justified in doing so. Then
G­d caused the Landvogt of Hagenau and the Bishop of Strasbourg to listen to my cries
when I fell before them. Memoirs

C.
epinr lr ywal eizxyn iptle eiptl iz`a jelnl oilx`w xqwd 'ec` `vi sx zpya
eze`a ok i"tr`e fpky` ghy lk lr llk jxc 'ineiw epbyd .iz` xy` yi`de ip` epizlgpe
i"dfray s`e mleabn myxbl 'ieiw `vi bxrayxifiiw 'eiwt iayei ipa 'iidyex ipa dpy
meiwd n"n . . . bxrayxifiiw zeciwta ixnbl yexbd lhal izbyd cr jlnd mr izlrt
'ipnf xg` 'ipnf epbyd wgeca mrt lka 'elerte 'zxzi 'gxihae dlha `l 'iidyex yexbn

zepexkfd 'q  .cer eprci `l cr
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In the year 5280 (1519), our sovereign lord, the Emperor, Charles, began his rule. I, and
the man that was with me, came before him and before his ministers to petition them on
behalf of our people and our inheritance. We received privileges for all of Germany.
Despite this, in that year, the townspeople of Rosheim and those that dwelt under the
domain of Kayserberg received official privilege to banish the Jews of their respective
areas. Even though I was able, with G­d's help, to influence the Emperor to totally revoke
the expulsion decree of the domain of Kayserberg, . . . nonetheless, the official sanction
to banish the Jews from Rosheim was never revoked. By dint of untold effort, we
succeeded in obtaining postponement, again and again. To this very day, there has been
no definite decision in this matter. Memoirs

D.
y`fl` ef dpicna aexe fpky` ghy lka evwzpy 'iixtkdn dnedn 'ziid d"tx zpya
mdil` iz`a 'c zlngae 'picn 'fi`a sbpd ligzd xake 'iig epirlal epeike 'iy`xl e`ypzi
'zeqiib 'iy`xl jixcdl xtqd mr oal lr izxac dnye sxechl` oixewy 'ixnek zia
seqay s`e 'picne xir lkl 'iax 'ixeiz eazkp mb 'iceid cbp ci mixdl `ly lew efixkdy
zre onf ribd cr 'iceil dlvde geex 'ziid ef 'fxkd lewa n"n odiazke 'dixac enbte exfg
ebxdp  zepicn  x`ya  mb  ,ax  bxd  mda  bexdl  bpixheln  qekec  mdilr  `ay  mdly  dtbn

.on` epilivdl siqei oke drxd 'zeaygnne mcin eplivdy 'c jxai zeaaxe 'itl`l erahpe

In the year 1525, there was turmoil caused by the peasants who had formed armies
throughout all of Germany, the majority of them in this province of Alsace. They
attempted to take control and to swallow us up alive. The plague had already begun in
some areas. Through G­d's mercy, I came to them to the Abbey called Altdorf and there I
won over their hearts through Scripture and directed the leaders of the armies to publicly
announce that the [peasants] should not lift up a hand against the Jews. In addition, many
documents allowing free passage were issued for every city and state. Even though they
later retracted and revoked their words and writings, still and all, there was space and
deliverance that came about through this public pronouncement of theirs. This plague of
theirs lasted until the Duke of Lorraine attacked them and killed many of them. In the
other provinces, they were slain and drowned by the thousands and ten thousands.
Blessed be G­d who saved us from their hands and their evil plans. May He only continue
to save us. Amen. Memoirs

E.
ebiyde d"xi qip`picxe jlnd iptl 'iixebhw `iadl `epb`d 'xxyd enw g"tx zpya
`ly xvlnd lr eaxe ozvwa zexiird on s`e mixtkd lka jiixd iayei 'zxicn epiyxbl
`ale z`vl 'picnd ipa lk ia exivtdy cre biepicxe` oixewy jlnd iazk e`ivede epevxn
cr aekxl `ly ilr izlaw jxca qpe` qeql dxwedy zaiqae mdl izxzrpe f`nk mdiptl
il ozpe 'ipey`x 'ixtqd on xfgy eipira og `vnl izbyd 'inyc 'zriiqae jlnd xvgl i`ea
z`f lr ze`n 'b cr `ivedl gk il epzpy s`e epineiw gqep itl f`nk 'iceid wifgdl 'izazk
'ibxhwnde miaedf mirax` `l` izia cr 'xfge 'kild 'ixefitd sexiva iz`ved `l n"n
dtbna mda 'bxde dlag ik`ln 'iwl`d gly xacd lwlwl 'ipcn xxerle xefgl enikqd
dzinl edekilede oiclreked zlynn jez ei`peyn qtzp iriaxde 'ixwir dyly me`zt
drxd 'znifnne mcin eplivde epi`pey cin epiznwp gwly 'c jxai meid cr ux`d hwyze

zepexkfd 'q  .epnr zeyrl eaygy
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In the year 1528, the landed nobility and the knights of the Unterlandvogtei of Hagenau
arose and brought slanderous charges before King Ferdinand, may his majesty be exalted,
and received permission from him to drive us out from the Imperial territories, from all of
the villages, and some of the cities. They outnumbered and forcibly prevailed upon the
Unterlandvogt and he obtained a written order [of expulsion] from the King. All of the
Jews of the province prevailed upon me to be their representative, as I had been in the
past. I complied with their request. Because of an accident that happened on the way to
the horse [I was riding], I made a firm commitment not to ride until I [first] came [by
foot] to the palace of the King. With G­d's help, I succeeded in finding favor in his eyes
and he recalled the decree which he had issued [to the knights] and gave me documents
reconfirming the rights of the Jews to settle [in Alsace] according to our privileges of the
past. Even though they empowered me to spend up to three hundred [gold florins] for
expenses, I only spent forty gold florins. The adversaries again decided to go back and
stir up enmity and to undo what had been achieved. G­d, however, sent angels of
destruction to the three principal plotters, who fell victim to a sudden illness. The fourth
fell into the hands of his own enemies at his residence, Hochfelden, and was put to death.
The land has been quiet till this day. Blessed be G­d who has taken revenge upon our
enemies and has saved us from their hands and the evil which they had plotted against us.
Memoirs

F.
eribd cr xbzl md oixehlic 'iceid 'kid zene`d lkn wfge lecb lew `vi w"tl u"x zpya
lbx sk zqixc epl zzl epa exiwtde d"xi jlne xqwd 'ec`d ipfe`a dfk 'ixac zelilr ixaq
iz`ae epizelvpzd ixaca qexhpew izxcqe izpwz zeldwd znkqd it lre zevx` dnka
epizelvpzd ixac elawy og `vn sqeie 'ikln ipyd iptl wxetyi` xira 'inyc 'zriiqa

zepexkfd 'q  .'eke f`nk epneiw lk eniiwe aeh oevxa

In the year 1530, a rumor spread and persisted among all the nations that the Jews were
[spying against the Germans and were] reporting their findings to the Turks. These
defamations also came to the attention of our sovereign lords, the King and Emperor,
may their majesty be exalted. As a result, we were outlawed and denied admission to
many lands. With the consent of the Jewish communities, I compiled and arranged a
booklet to prove our innocence. I then came, with G­d's help, to the city of Innsburk
before the two sovereigns. "And Yosef found grace" for they agreeably accepted the
arguments for our exoneration and reconfirmed all our privileges as of old. Memoirs

G.
'ixcqe 'ixcb owzl xtqn oi` zenlre minzxtd zene`d lk evawzp ux zpy dpy eze`a
xqwd ycgy izbyde cbpn 'inyc 'zriiqa izcnr 'inid eze`ae 'iaixd lhal 'ixyd epeike

zepexkfd 'q   .'eke 'ini dfi` ux`d hewyl mibxhwnd zeit mzqpe onbif xqwn 'ineiwd

In that year of 1530, the princes of the people, the officials and noble ladies without
number held a conference in order to adopt resolutions and ordinances. The princes had
in mind, at that time, to revoke the Jewish privilege of taking interest. With G­d's help, I
stood up in opposition and succeeded in having the ancient rights from the days of the
Emperor Sigismund (1433) reconfirmed by the Emperor [Charles], in silencing our
accusers and in restoring peace to the land for the time being. Memoirs
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H.
ux` oixcp`le hp`a`xa 'picna xqwd xg` secxle welcl 'ibxhwnd exfg w"tl `"vx zpya
cbpn cenrl ick 'epicn oze`a aekxl 'iaxn izxxerzpe icei yi` dny rexf `l xy`
`ay s`e 'iax iwqra `"vx oeiq g"x cr xc` g"xn d"xi xqwd xvga iziide 'inyc 'zriiqa
iptl gly mewnd icqg lcebl n"n 'zin ixry cr miig iprlal hiex hex 'ixewy heicxqd
xqwd ly excga miptle i`ptl iz`a 'inid eze`ae .'iaxe`d lk cine ecin iplivde ek`ln
xeagd izxaig ixcga cceazne iept iziida jk oiae .'pekp il aiyde ikxev itk enr xacl
ipd lkl ixy` iall izxn`e zecceazdd ini eze`n iz`pdp 'zekd ige ycewd jxc `xwpy
`inyc ilina weqrle mlerd iladn 'wigxdl ozeaygne ozrc epeeiky mipey`x 'iyp`

zepexkfd .q  .'eke

In the year 1531, the slanderers came back to chase and pursue the Emperor in Brabant
and Flanders, a land where there are no Jews. I was stirred by the concerns of the
community to travel to those countries in order to stand in opposition and [plead our
cause], with G­d's help. From the beginning of Adar until the beginning of Sivan
(February 18 to May 17), 1531, I remained at the Emperor's court to work for the
common good. A knight by the name of Rotraut attempted to destroy me, but G­d, in His
great kindness, sent His angel on my behalf to save me from his hand and from all those
who attempted to entrap me. During that period, I entered the inner sanctum, the chamber
of the Emperor, and was adequately able to articulate to him [my position]. He favorably
replied to my [requests]. In the interim, while I was free [from public business] and was
alone in my room, I composed a work which is called, "Derech HaKodesh". By the life of
the writer, I enjoyed those days of solitary contemplation. I thought to myself, "Fortunate
are all of those men of the previous generations who were able to concentrate their
thoughts [on higher concerns] and distanced themselves from the vanities of this world in
order to involve themselves with spiritual pursuits." Memoirs

V. Informers and Apostates
mixqen ipy eze`e . . . mixqen ipy zaiqa `l` dpi` dlgzdd ,wxetyibrx oaxegd lr d`x
s`e ,ezqex` mr cg`de erxf lk mr cg`d ,drx zeaxzl e`vi dligz dxiara eligzdy
,odia` zekf odl lirez `ly dpyld iab ef dxiar dyw n"n mdia` eid milecb ipany
zepine qx`n wexfl zepin ixtq owize winrd ,qetca dlebd ipa lk xriv cg`d yi`d eze`e
millwn miceid d"xi xqwl xen`l mixac dylya mixac zelilr `ivedl ,ea uavan
skz ia xqwd gly dkety dnigay cr ,mixb elne ,gayl epilra eyi milflfne ,zene`d
eze`a micenil oeyl il ozp ,epa `le miax zekfae `ed jexa mewn icqg iele didy izla
zil`xyid dne`a lvpzdle zegvp zeaeyz oinl aiydl w"tl u"x zpy a` g"x dry
lawl jxvede ,eytp cra dtewl eqpekl `edd oind ly epic uxgp cr ,l"y witqna

dpwnd 'q   .epicva mipipvk dide zixal xheld l` jld ,fpky` ixeckn z`vl dreaya

Look at the destruction of the Jewish community of Regensburg! It all started with two
informers . . . Those two informers, who were the first to morally compromise the
community, became apostates; one of them, together with all of his children, and the
other, with his fiancee. Even though their fathers were descended from great men,
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nonetheless, the severity of this crime of slander is such that even the merits of the fathers
are of no benefit. The younger of the two tormented the entire Diaspora through his use
of the printing press. He expanded and built upon previous heretical works in order to
inject the poisonous venom that was seething within him. He [also] slandered the Jews to
the Emperor, may his majesty be exalted, with the following three charges: 1) The Jews
curse the Gentiles 2) They denigrate Yeshu in the [prayer] Aleynu Lishabayach 3) The
Jews circumcise converts. The Emperor, filled with wrath, sent me a message that I must
come without delay to answer the charges. Because of the kindness of the Omnipresent
and the merit of the community, not my own personal merit, He gave me the ability to
express myself articulately to refute that apostate decisively, on that first day of the
month of Av, 1530, and to, thank G­d, adequately defend the people of Israel. [It was so
successful,] that the apostate was sentenced to be put in jail  and was forced to swear that
he would leave the surrounding area. He went over to the faith of Luther and he
continued to be a thorn in our side. Sefer HaMikneh

VI. R. Solomon Molcho
zeipevig zrca r"p `wlen dnly iax dpeknd wcv xb frel yi`d `a (a"vx) minid oze`ae
dn irneyke xbzd cbp dnglnl z`vl 'icedid lk ueawl `ay exne`a xqwd xxerl
.dlecbd y`d eplk`i ot xqwd al xxerl `ly exidfdl eiptl zxb` izazk egexa dzlry
zeipevg zerc ezk`lna ez` ici xqwd xn`i `ly ick wxety oibrx xird on izwlqe
.myd yecw lr sxyp dny `iipela xir cr ekilede zelfxa ilaka qtzp xqwd l` e`eaae

zepexkfd xtq  .r"ba 'xexv eznyp oern xiqd 'iaxe l`xyi zezce

During that time, (1532) an Italian (Portuguese), a righteous convert, by the name of
Rabbi Shlomo Molcho, may he rest in Eden, came with an extraordinary idea to stir up
the Emperor by telling him that he had come to summon all the Jews to fight against the
Turks. When I heard of his plans, I wrote him a letter warning him against stirring up the
heart of the Emperor, lest he be destroyed by the great fire. I left Regensburg so that the
Emperor could not say that I had a hand in this scheme. As soon as he came to the
Emperor, he was put into chains and brought to Bologna (Mantua). There, he was burned
at the stake, in sanctification of the Name of G­d and the faith of Israel. He delivered
many people from sin. May his soul rest in the Garden of Eden. Memoirs

VII. The Controversy of Prague
x`ye uiaxed iyp` oial b`xt w"w ycew ldwd oia aixne dnedn 'zlr w"tl c"vx zpya
ipax mdipia eazk cr midiit 'picna zeldw x`yn 'eax zezka df cbp df enw cr 'iyp`
lblbd uexpe zn` iyp` lr 'zeaix ixac lk cinrdle ozrc zeeydl fpky` ipaxe `fet
'ixcb xecbl ltyd ize`e l"vf xecbia` x"xdn oa mdxa` x"xdn d"d wfgd yihtd xxal
'lecbd xird l` lecb xrva iz`a 'zvxtde 'pizeax zywa it lre ,zepwz mdl owzle
ahie 'iaehe milern mixac b"k epxcqe eppwize l"vf oe`bd lv` sipq zeidl 'iwl`l
iziidy cera n"n .`av `vi yi` ze`n drax`n xzi oazkk 'ixac mezgle `al mdipira
'ibxed cia ize` xeqnl y"h z"ay 'peknd ezriqe uiaxed yi` enwy egix ozp cxp 'aiqna
,icva ecnr ldwd lke iytp lr 'inrt dyly b`xt xira 'xiad lr cenrl izkxvede
dncznd 'iyp` dnk e`a z`f lk lre 'ixitkd ici jezn 'elyae iwp z`vi 'inyc 'zriiqae
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ekxc dyri zn`d n"n iceak cbpk zwelgn ilral ci zzl 'ipeapd zkn eidy 'dipira
'e`av 'c z`pw d`pw yeal yeall jiixhyii`e frel dpte cv lkn zten iyp` e`viy
'aixnde fld xtqa miaezk mdy enk zekxad lr zecedle iaix z` aixle ipealr reazle
lr cirzk zepal `le qexdl awri 'qiynl d"era did uiaxed iyp` eavre exny 'hirae

zepexkfd 'q  .`"xik epizeper lre 'dilr xtki i"yd dxv xg` dxv z`f

In the year 1534, there arose turmoil and strife between the holy community of Prague
and the men of the [village of] Horowitz in alliance with other men to such an extent that
the other communities throughout Bohemia broke up into separate warring factions. It
reached such a point that the Rabbis of Posen and the Rabbis of Germany wrote to the
various factions that they should reach a final settlement and all of the issues should be
decided by men of integrity. The lot fell upon the great Rabbinic mind, Rav Avraham b.
R. Avigdor, of blessed memory, and myself, the inferior one, to draw up guidelines and
rules [regarding the conduct of the community]. Because of the repeated requests of our
Rabbis, did I make that very difficult trip to that great city dedicated to G­d (Prague) to
be an appendage to the Gaon, of blessed memory. We instituted and set up a twenty three
point reform program that significantly improved the situation. The plan met the approval
of more than four hundred prominent citizens who added their signatures to it. While I
was involved in all of this, however, one of the men of Horowitz, together with his
compatriot whose sobriquet is " Shabas Tosh", arose to hand me over to murderers and I
had to stand in the Royal Castle three times to protect my life. The entire community of
Prague stood by my side. With G­d's help, I came away from the [den of] lions innocent
[of the charges] and in peace. Besides all of this, many self proclaimed "authorities" came
to lend their support to the contentious ones to [defame] my honor. The truth, however,
makes its own way [to the surface]. Men of great distinction from all sides and corners,
[including] Italy and Austria, clothed themselves in the garb of Divine jealousy and came
to defend my honor and to take up my cause and to give their approval to all that was
written in the document that I put together. The strife and resistance of the men of
Horowitz that created such grief and aggravation, caused, through our many sins, that the
Jewish community became despoiled. It was a cause of their undoing, and not of their
flourishing, as is evident by the occurrence of calamity upon calamity. May G­d forgive
them and all of us for our sins.    Memoirs

VIII. The Silesian Calumny
dpicnd ipa lk eqtzpy `ifiily iayei epig` cbp dgezn oicd zcn 'ziid (d)bvx zpya
`ivedl lertl j`type`e j`a`eey cr l"f onxiail x"xd mr `ale zelrl izkxvede
epnqxki 'ixfg ly 'alg xwy dlilra etxyp 'iyp` 'b e` 'a xzie qpxtdy s`e 'ixeq`d
fpky` ghy ce`nne xexc 'ixeq`l xn` 'inyc 'zriiqae 'dixwy rcep seql n"n xrin
epgp` miiwpy bxii aexwx`n qekec ipfe`a 'irhdle 'gikedl ick ze`n 'e lr xzi iz`ved

zepexkfd 'q  .'eke ef dlilre oern l`xyi lke
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In the year 1535, the attribute of Divine judgement was about to be enacted against our
brethren of Silesia, who were all imprisoned. I needed to travel all the way to Schwabach
and Ansbach, together with R. Liebermann, of blessed memory, to act on their behalf and
to release them from imprisonment. Even though the leader of the community (Avraham
Hirsch of Leobschuetz) as well as two or three others were burned at the stake as a result
of a false allegation concerning pigs milk (for witchcraft), at the end, the falsehood was
recognized and, with G­d's help, he (the Margrave George) granted freedom to the
imprisoned. From the general fund of German Jewry, I spent over six hundred [gold
florins] in order to prove and persuade the prince, Margrave George, that we, as well as
the rest of Israel, are innocent of this crime and slander. Memoirs

IX. Martin Luther and the Age of Protestantism

A.
(1dne`l zzl `le epa xiwtdl oiqk`fn yp`d wevxiid qekecd `a w"tl f"vx zpya

eznyp 'pdiba x"dh `"l oihx`n dpeknd xnekd zaiqa evx` lka lbx sk jxcn il`xyid
'ca` 'iceil ci ozpy in xen`l ewgn exyp zepin ixtq 'axd 'ixtq azky 'xexv etebe
,l`xyi i`peyl 'ziid 'newz oi` hrnky cr zene`e 'ixyd epa zexbl 'ixetq aexa ezewz
izilre wxetqexhy mewne zene`d inkg x`yn 'ilern iazk izbyd epizeax 'nkqd it lre
xirl e`ea cr 'iazkd aiydl izleki `le oibpiice oyiin 'picna qekecd ipt ywal
lblib ici lre 'iceid lk yexbl k"b oeik wxeap`xa qekecd hxt 'iqkec x`y mr hx`ewp`xe
'zriqe xveae xheld ixack `ly 'gikdl zene`d inkg 'iax ipta izcnry 'gekied 'aiqe
rcepe dlbpy qp jeza qp epl dyrpe zekxad lr il ecedy cr dyecwd epizxez ixac jezn
r"x zpy eia` iiga etxypy miyecwe mitexyd 'iyp` oze` lk mkei aexwxn eze`le 'iaxl
zecedn apbd xfg xak ik etxyp drx 'aic dlilre xwyac ,l`xyin zeytp g"l w"tl
jkl ,qekecl apb ly eiece cibdl `ly glbl deiv oenbdd `ed aie`e xv rx yi`e exwy
la` 'pen`a mw mikei qekecd meid cre mvx`a lbx sk jxcn mdl zzl 'zrxn 'ikecd exfg
jxai mlyn exky lawl eze` litd jkl epa xiwtdl c`n epl rxde ezghadn xfg oiqk`f

zepexkfd 'q  .enr 'nwp mwpy 'c

In the year 5297 (1536) the prince, Herzog Hans von Saxon (the Elector John Fredrick of
Saxony), was about to take away our rights and forbid anyone of the people of Israel to
travel within the confines of his land. He did this through the influence of the minister
who is called Martin Luther ­ Lo Tohor. His soul and body are bound in Hell, for he
wrote books, many books of heresy which constantly fell from his lap, which stated that
he who helps a Jew will lose all hope [of salvation]. Through his many anti Semitic
works, the princes and the nations were so affected that the people of Israel were in grave
danger. Through the permission of our Rabbis, I was able to acquire supportive letters
from other non Jewish [Protestant] scholars and the city of Strasbourg. I attempted to
meet with the prince (of Saxony) in the territories of Meisen and Thuringen but I was
unsuccessful. Finally, when he came to the city of Frankfurt together with the other
princes, especially the prince of Brandenburg, who planned as well to expel all of the
Jews,  [then I was able to present to them,] as a result of a public debate in which I
engaged the [Protestant] non Jewish scholars to prove to them the incorrectness of the
position of Luther and Bucer and their followers, based upon the words of our Holy
Torah. As a result, they agreed to the correctness of my position. A miracle within a
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miracle occurred to us when it became known to the public, as well as to Margrave
Johachim, that all of those martyrs who were burned at the stake during the lifetime of his
father in the year 1510, thirty eight Jewish souls, were falsely and maliciously accused,
for the thief had already retracted his [original] false confession, [in which he had falsely
maligned the Jews,] and that evil enemy and villain, the Bishop [Jerome], had
commanded the priest [who heard this retraction as part of the final confession of the
criminal] not to relate the confession of the thief to the prince. Because of this, the
princes retracted from their evil and granted [the Jews] free passage throughout their
lands. To this day, does Prince Johachim stand by his word. The Prince of Saxony,
however, went back on his promise and treated us terribly, as people without rights.
Therefore, did G­d cause him to be humbled in order that he receive his just deserts.
Blessed be G­d, who wrought vengeance on our behalf.  Memoirs

2) Seht jetzt auf nechst gehaltenem tag zu franckfort durch den hochgelerten Dr.
Phillip Melancton ist dem Hochgebornen frsten und Herren, Marggr. Joachim von
Brandenburg Churfr. glaubhaftig frgepracht worden, wie von Tyrannen die armen Juden,
bey seines Vattern seligen leben zu unrecht verbrannt worden, und wiewol der alt Crfst
nit so lauter den ufsatz gewist, dannocht wurden 38 uff das unwahr gegeben verbrannt,
und der denselbigen ubelthater der sie zu unrecht angeben mut, sein beucht gehort, der
lebet noch und ist warhaftig bey Wuttemburg. . . . Trostschrift ­ R. Josel Jud zu
Rosheim

Please take a look at what happened during those days (1539) at the convention [of the
Protestant Estates] at Frankfort when the very learned Dr. Phillip Melancthon presented
compelling evidence to the great and exalted nobleman, Margrave Joachim II of
Brandenburg, the Elector [of the Holy Roman Empire], how the Jews were unjustly
burned at the stake under the regime of the previous Margrave [Joachim I], the present
Margrave's father. At the time, the Margrave was not informed of the details of the libel,
and as a result, thirty eight [innocent] Jews were burned at the stake. The priest who
heard the confession of the criminal, who claimed that he was forced to make the false
accusation, is still alive. He now lives near Wttemburg. . . . On the strength of that
evidence, I was able to receive from the honored Elector, on behalf of all of the Jews
everywhere, permission to conduct business and to freely travel within his domain,
something that had previously been denied them for some thirty years. Letter of
Consolation ­ R. Yosef of Rosheim

B.
mrt eze`ae fixtl jenq xir cr jiixwp`xe jlnd lr cak liga d"xi xqwd rqp d"y zpya
seqle reiq zzl micedid lk fpky` ghy lr lihdl h`cp`n iazk `iadl 'ilyend e`a
cer caln ezbifnl oipexw ze`n rax`e adfl oiv`a e"h 'edf itl` dyly el zzl epxytzp
w"wa 'zeida meid eze`ae d`ne d`n lk lr adfn 'iriax 'b eplhde miaedf sl` cr zepxc
xkf aeh yi` mw cr d"xi xqwd ipt ywale 'ceid myxbl 'ikece mixyd lk ecnr `ynxee
mdiqenipe mzc 'ac ik mci zgzn 'iceid zelrdl jxcd ef `ly mdl mirhdle yexcl aehl
dlk yexb iab drxd 'zeaygn elhazpe oexkfl inex jlne xqwd 'elynna 'ceid wifgdl
zaiqa lke zenewn x`yn f`ne `ecp`l oibpilqr uprn 'elynna eyxbp 'iihxt zlef
xac 'xide epl extq xy` epizea` xy`k 'inzae zn`a bedpl oebd xecd oi` d"eray 'ipiipr

zepexkfd 'q   .'elye zn` jxca jll qipd 'c
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In the year 1544, the Emperor set out with a mighty army against the King of France, and
he pushed forward until he came to a place near Paris. At that time, authorized officials
went about the country to obtain pledges of war contributions from the Jews of Germany.
Eventually, we agreed to give him three thousand gold florins, worth fifteen batzen
apiece, and four hundred kronen just for drinking expenses [for the Emperor's retinue],
besides gifts with a total value of about a thousand gold florins. We taxed the populace at
a rate of three quarters percent [of their total worth]. At that time, while I was in the holy
community of Worms, all of the princes and potentates had decided to expel the Jews and
to have the Emperor grant them permission to do so. Just as they were about to do so, a
good man arose, may he be favorably remembered, to expound and explain to them that it
is improper to release the Jews from their dominion, for it is their religious and traditional
obligation to retain Jews within the domain of the Roman Emperor and King, to keep
them as a reminder [of the Biblical prophecies]. Thereupon, their evil plan of total
expulsion became null and void. Individuals, however, were expelled at that time from
the domain of Mainz, Eslingen, and Landau  and, later on, from other places as well. The
reason for all of this is that, due to our grave sins, this generation finds itself unfit to act
with truth and sincerity of the level of our forefathers. One who is in awe of the word of
G­d will hasten to walk in the way of truth and peace. Memoirs

C.
lr `al 'ixye 'iqecd lkl deive wxety oibrx xirl xqwd 'ec` `a w"tl e"y zpya
n"n e`a 'aexy j`e .'pn`d 'ipiipr iab 'iwelga 'dipiipr lre 'diwelg zeeydle bhykiixd
oiae jk oiae 'ipye 'ini dnk ea cexnl xqwd eavre exn 'zriqe oyiide oiyk`f 'iqkec ipyd
e` 'ixqw jeyn epl ozip `l mcw 'inin xy` zegk ietie 'iycg 'ineiw zece`a izlrt jk
lewa iz`xw wxety oibrx fld cre meiae mpzzl `xitya eivrie xqwd ipgihad xake 'ikln
xqwd ly eciae enzega enzgpe eazkp oke 'zghad ixac miiwl milyend ipfe`a lecb
xy` mrd e`ae l"pd 'ixy ipyd cbp 'nglnl zelrle zeliig ueawl xqwd jlnp f`ne .d"xi
epzxfra epl didy myd ilele il`xyid 'ne`a xiwtdl micxtqd md epeyl rnyz `l
obiy xqiwd ipt zelgle ywal xiclrep`xb 'peknd xqwl 'pyn lecbd lyend l` i`eaa
oixhiel 'ipin ipdn zexv dnk elaq miceid 'pd xen`l xqwd l` jlde dyr oke epilr
.meyly lenzn mdl 'zzpy miycg 'ineiwd cbp mda xiwtdl 'iicxtqd jnr e`a eiykre
yi` mixi `ly zeqpwe 'ieeiva 'ezge aezk dpd 'iceia xiwtdl oekp `l xen`l xqwd ze`pe
ianeta oih`cp`nd e`vi z`f lre icei meyl rxdl e` wifdl elbxe eci z` epizeliig lkn
'elyl zexwl 'iicxtqd e`a skze .'zinl edeaiigl xqwd zxfb lr xaerd fpky` ghy lka
zeliigd qpxtl oiie mgl `iadl 'icedid e`a megll zeliigd mr xqwd e`ak 'icieid lk mr
e`a fpky` zexiir lk 'texiva oiyiide oiyk`f 'ixy ipyde .oiix`we zelbr 'iyngn xzi
d"xi xqwd 'ec`y s`e ,zelfxa iakexe lbx iyp` mitl` d`nn xzi c`n ceak zeliiga
cr mtcxl exfra did 'iwl`d n"n lke lkn itl` 'n zlef edenk axe wfg epi` 'zeliiga
ep`xw il`xyid dne` epgp`e ecia 'iqtzp 'pcer xy` ecia 'ixy ipyd eqtzp seqle 'nxeg
'ec` myd obiy hx`ewp`xee w"wa cegid xiye epikln epia` axre xwea lltzdl lecb lewa
xqwd gvpy oegvpd lke ,hrna od axa od riydl eci dxvw `l ik l`xyi enre d"xi xqwd
dne` lr eingxa myd oibdy ze`ltpe 'iqp epl dyrpe w"tl f"y zpya xyrp d"xi

zepexkfd 'q  .efk 'lecb dnglna yi` epnn cwtp `ly il`xyid
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In the year 1546, our sovereign lord, the Emperor, came to the city of Regensburg, and
commanded all of the princes and potentates to come to the Reichstag (Diet) and to
resolve their differences and to grapple with the issues of faith that divide them. Even
though most of them attended, two of the princes, those of Saxony and Hesse, and their
followers, caused the Emperor sorrow and grief in their rebellion against him, which had
already lasted many years. In the midst of all of this, I worked towards creating renewed
confirmations and improved privileges that had never yet been granted to us during the
period of the emperors or kings. In [the Reichstag of] Speyer (1544), the Emperor and his
advisors had promised to give it to me. At that Diet, in Regensburg, I made a public
appeal to the Emperor to keep his promise, and, thus, the agreements were written down
and sealed by the Emperor with his own hand. After that, the Emperor decided to gather
armies and wage war against those two princes. A nation who spoke a foreign tongue, the
Spanish, joined with his forces and were about to destroy the Jewish nation, had G­d not
aided us when I came to the great ruler, who was known as [Nicholas Perrenet,] the Lord
of Granvelle, who was second only to the Emperor, to ask him to request the Emperor to
protect us. He did so and went to the Emperor and said to him, "Behold, the Jews have
suffered so much at the hands of the Lutherans, and now your own people, the Spaniards,
have come to destroy them in spite of the new privileges which you have issued to them
yesterday and the day before." The Emperor saw it fitting to declare, "It is not right to
mistreat the Jews. Let it therefore be officially decreed and signed, on pain of
punishment, that no man from any of Our armies may lift up either his hand or his foot to
injure or harm any Jew whatsoever." Forthwith, messengers sped throughout all of
Germany with documents proclaiming that anyone who would violate this prohibition
would be liable to the death penalty. All at once, the Spanish mercenaries became well
disposed towards the Jews. When the Emperor and his army went forth, the Jews brought
them more than five wagon loads of bread and wine. The two princes of Saxony and
Hesse amassed an army of over one hundred thousand infantrymen and mounted armored
knights. Even though the army of the sovereign lord, the Emperor, was neither as
powerful nor as large as their army, with only a total of some forty thousand troops, G­d
was at his side to pursue them until their final defeat. Eventually, the two princes were
captured and still remain in captivity. We, the people of Israel, who were in the holy
community of Frankfurt, called out to Him, with a mighty voice and prayed each morning
and evening Avinu Malkainu  and Shir HaYichud  that G­d should protect the lord, the
Emperor, may his majesty be exalted, and His people Israel, for He has the power to
work salvation whether they be many or few. The entire victory of the Emperor was all
accomplished in the year 5307 (1546­1547).   G­d wrought miracles and wonders on our
behalf and, in His compassion, protected the people of Israel so that no one was killed
during that immense war. Memoirs
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In [Dec. of] the year 1546, our sovereign lord, the Emperor, sent his general, together
with an army of tens of thousands, against the city of Frankfurt in order to subdue it. [He
also instructed him to] allow them to peaceably surrender if they would be willing to
accept his conditions. The Jewish community [of Frankfurt] sent me a communication
and asked me to intercede on their behalf before [the commanding general], Count
[Maximilian] von Bueren. The city was conquered and the city's gates were opened to the
Count and all of his armies. I came to the Count and made my presentation and gave him
a gift worth a total value of eight hundred [gold florins]. [As a result,] there was peace in
[the Jewish] section and the [entire] city [was safe] for the Jews. What the [mercenaries]
had looted and plundered in Feuchtwangen and Darmstadt, they in turn sold to the Jews
at a very reduced price. [As a result,] the Jews were able to make from this a goodly
amount of money. Thank G­d, their prayers were heard and their mourning turned into
joy. In such a manner, may G­d extend peace to all of the Jewish people. Memoirs
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The diversity and immensity of the benevolence which G­d has bestowed upon us in
every time and era, is a deep and mysterious subject. It is something that our own eyes
have seen now [in the wake of the Schmalkaldic War]. A nation (Germany) had set up a
new faith (Protestantism) based upon many different leniencies (from Catholicism). They
planned to attack us and uproot the nation of Israel through many different harsh decrees
and forced conversions. G­d saw the anguish of His people and sent His angel, angels of
mercy, to strengthen and empower the lord, the Emperor Charles, may G­d exalt his
majesty, in order to defeat them repeatedly and to render void their covenants and plots
and to demean them and to conquer and capture states and cities effortlessly.
Miraculously, he was victorious and he saved the Jewish people from the hands of this
new faith which was founded by the minister by the name of Martin Luther (Lo Tohor ­
unclean). He attempted to utterly destroy the entirety of Jewry. May G­d be blessed, who
foiled his plot and showed us His vengeance and great salvation. Just now, at the
beginning of Shevat, the Emperor, may his majesty be exalted, sent Count [von Beuren],
the commander of his forces, to the city of Frankfurt. Even before he planned to lay siege
to the city, they were seized by fear and were afraid to openly fight him. With great
humility, the burgers sought compassion and kindness [from the general] for their
rebellion. In the name of the [Imperial standard of] the eagle, the Count accepted their
surrender and agreed to act with them in semi­kindness.  Sefer HaMikneh


